THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Carolyn C. Matthews, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case 2013-002415

---

Brook Waddle ..... Appellant,

v

South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services ..... Respondent.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Patricia Logan Harrison  
611 Holly Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29205  
803 256 2017  
[plh.cola@att.net](mailto:plh.cola@att.net)

Kenneth C. Anthony, Jr.  
250 Magnolia Street  
Spartanburg, South Carolina  
864 582 2355

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2014

SC Court of Appeals

**

II. **Statement of Issues on Appeal**

1. **Do Respondent’s longstanding practices of failing to provide notices containing all of the information required by 42 C.F.R. 431.210 and dismissing Medicaid fair hearing appeals without providing evidentiary hearings, for reasons other than those reasons contained in the notices, violate participants’ constitutional and statutory rights to due process and the Medicaid Act? Are these violations subject to repetition and have they evaded review?**
2. **Does the agency’s practice of purging the record of evidence fair hearing appellants have submitted violate their constitutional and statutory rights to due process and is this violation is especially egregious when the agency dismisses an appeal without providing the required evidentiary hearing, where it would be required to accept such evidence into the record?**
3. **Have the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and the Administrative Law Court violated the Separation of Powers Doctrine by obstructing review of Medicaid appeals by the Judicial Branch of government and administering the program based on arbitrary binding norms established by Executive Branch bureaucrats in violation of laws and regulations promulgated by the South Carolina General Assembly and Congress?**

III. **Statement of the Case**

1. **Nature of the Case**

The parties have widely different views about the nature of this case. Appellant Brook Waddle alleges that this appeal is primarily about ongoing and systemic violations of her right to due process that is guaranteed her under the United States Constitution, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and the Medicaid Act. Brook complains that DHHS has established a pattern and practice of sending defective notices, or not sending notices at all, and of dismissing fair hearing appeals without providing an evidentiary hearing, based on reasons other than those reasons contained on the notices. She alleges that these constitutional and statutory violations are subject to repetition, but they have evaded review, thereby obstructing her right to judicial review for years. *Id.*

Respondent views the case far more narrowly. On the one hand Respondent has argued that this case is solely about DHHS’ decision to deny payment for an oximeter cable. R. \_\_\_\_.

Instead of supplementing the record of Brook's 2007 appeal (Docket No. 07-ALJ-08-0626-AP), as Brook requested when this subsequent violation occurred, Respondents treated her complaint as a totally new appeal, assigning the case a new number (Case No. 13-MISC-21). This new appeal is hereinafter referred to as "Waddle II." But, then DHHS filed a motion to dismiss the appeal with the Administrative Law Court, appearing to argue that it is part and parcel of Brook's 2007 appeal. The 2007 appeal is referred to herein as "Waddle I." R. \_\_\_\_.

The Administrative Law Court ruled that Brook's complaints about systemic violations of federal and state laws in Waddle I are irrelevant to this appeal. Both the agency and the Administrative Law Court dismissed her appeal without providing an evidentiary hearing.

## 2. **The amount involved in the Appeal**

Rule 208 of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Practice requires the appellant to state the amount involved in the appeal. Because the hearing officer dismissed Brook's request for a hearing without providing the evidentiary hearing required by 42 U.S.C. 1396a(a)(3) and did not allow her to call or cross examine Respondent's witnesses or allow her to submit evidence at the required hearing, the Record does not contain the price of the oximeter cable. Appellant requests that this Court take judicial notice that Medicaid reimbursement rate for the device in our sister state of North Carolina is \$187.21. *See* [http://www.ncdhhs.gov/dma/fee/DME/dme\\_rates\\_0114.pdf](http://www.ncdhhs.gov/dma/fee/DME/dme_rates_0114.pdf). Although the device is inexpensive, the failure to use an oximeter can lead to death, thus, the value of this case is actually the value of the life of Brook Waddle. In *People v. Murray*, the conviction of Michael Jackson's personal physician for manslaughter was recently upheld by the California Court of Appeals, in part because the jury found that he failed to use an oximeter to properly monitor Mr. Jackson's vital signs. Case No. B237677 (Cal.Ct.Ap. January 15, 2014). ("According to expert medical testimony presented at trial using a proper pulse oximeter could have saved Mr. Jackson's life." *Id.* at fn 8.)

Instead of monetary damages, in her administrative appeal, Brook has requested nothing more than a declaratory order requiring DHHS to comply with the law and to stop violating the constitutional right to due process of Medicaid participants. Brook also requests that this Court order DHHS to pay reasonable legal fees and costs incurred in this civil action.

### **3. History of Brook's Medicaid Appeals**

#### **a. The April, 2007 Fair Hearing Appeal at DHHS**

Brook filed an appeal in 2007 when DHHS refused to pay for the services and equipment her physician determined that she needed upon discharge from MUSC. She requested that all Medicaid services be continued during her 2007 appeal, as required by 42 C.F.R. 431.231. Since her discharge from MUSC in 2007, she has been receiving tracheotomy supplies through Medicaid. Instead of scheduling and holding an evidentiary hearing in 2007, the DHHS hearing officer issued an interlocutory order. R. \_\_\_\_\_. This order required Brook to submit a "Memorandum of Understanding" and that the Memorandum be in a form and content approved by DHHS. R. \_\_\_\_\_. But Brook was unable to reach an "understanding" with DHHS and resolution of the appeal was out of her control. R. \_\_\_\_\_. No such form existed. R. \_\_\_\_\_. Even though Brook notified the hearing officer that she had tried to comply with her order, instead of scheduling an evidentiary hearing, the hearing officer issued an "Order to Show Cause" on August 17, 2007. This order, issued more than 90 days after Brook filed her request for a fair hearing, required Brook to brief the issues in her appeal before the hearing officer would schedule an evidentiary hearing. R. \_\_\_\_\_. At this point, approximately 120 days had passed since Brook had requested a fair hearing. On November 16, 2007, the hearing officer issued an order dismissing Brook's fair hearing as "moot," over her objections, without providing the requested evidentiary hearing. 42 C.F.R. 431.244. R. \_\_\_\_\_.

#### **b. First Appeal to the Administrative Law Court in 2007**

Brook appealed the hearing officer's dismissal to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court in 2007. R. \_\_\_\_\_. In 2009, approximately two years after Brook requested a fair hearing, the Administrative Law Court reversed the agency decision and remanded Brook's appeal back to DHHS, with instructions to provide an evidentiary hearing. R. \_\_\_\_\_.

#### **c. Fair Hearing Proceedings on First Remand from Administrative Law Court in 2009**

The hearing officer held an all day "fair hearing" at DHHS on April 24, 2009 and issued an order on July 9, 2009, upholding the agency's decision to deny the services and equipment her doctor had ordered in 2007. R. \_\_\_\_\_. Order of DHHS Hearing Officer dated July 9, 2009.

#### **d. Second Appeal to the Administrative Law Court in 2009**

Brook filed a second appeal with the Administrative Law Court in 2009. As the appellant, Brook bore the expenses of having the hearing transcribed. Rule 35, Rules of the Administrative Law Court. After briefing, a hearing was held in the South Carolina Administrative Law Court on June 14, 2009 and another hearing held on March 1, 2010, but that Executive Branch Agency (the Administrative Law Court) - on the second trip to that court - did not issue a final administrative order until more than two years later. By that time, more than 1,800 days had passed since Brook filed her request for a final administrative decision requesting that needed medical care be provided with "reasonable promptness." During this time, DHHS improperly reduced Brook's services below the number of hours she was receiving in 2007 when she filed *Waddle I. B.W. v. DHHS*, Case No. 07-MISC-028 (SCDHHS Nov. 19, 2013).

This Court may take judicial notice that in 2012, according to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court's Annual Accountability Report for FY 2011-2012, that Court's "suggested time frame" for disposing of Medicaid appeals was 180 days. *See* [http://dc.statelibrary.sc.gov/bitstream/handle/10827/9423/ALC\\_Annual\\_Accountability\\_Report\\_2011-2012.pdf?sequence=1](http://dc.statelibrary.sc.gov/bitstream/handle/10827/9423/ALC_Annual_Accountability_Report_2011-2012.pdf?sequence=1) at 14. This amount is double the time allowed by federal law to issue a final administrative decision in a Medicaid hearing. 42 C.F.R. 431.244(f) and *Shakhnes v. Berlin*, 689 F.3d 244 (2d Cir. 2012). In FY 2012, the Administrative Law Court only ruled upon 40% of its Medicaid appeals within this 180 day period, taking an average of 284 days to decide Medicaid appeals. 2011-2012 Id. at 15. (This is in addition to the time Medicaid participants spend in the administrative proceedings at DHHS, and it does not take into account any prior appeal to the Administrative Law Court that was remanded back to DHHS.) CMS addressed the issue of delays resulting from remanding fair hearing appeals in the *State Medicaid Manual (SMM)*, which is a manual issued by CMS, the federal agency authorized by Congress to administer the Medicaid program. This Manual "makes available to all State Medicaid agencies ... informational and procedural material needed by the States to administer the Medicaid program.... The manual provides instructions, regulatory citations, and information for implementing provisions of Title XIX of the Social Security Act (the Act). Instructions are official interpretations of the law and regulations, and, as such, are binding on Medicaid State agencies" *Shakhnes v. Berlin*, 689 F.3d 244, fn 11 (2d Cir. 2012). The SMM states that "a

conclusive decision in the name of the State Agency shall be made by the hearing authority” and that a remand “is not a substitute for a definitive and final administrative action.” SMM § 2903.2(A).

Brook filed a motion to reconsider the Administrative Law Court’s decision to remand her case to DHHS and more time passed for a third round of oral arguments to be held in the Administrative Law Court. Appellant’s ALC Brief at 5. Instead of issuing an order that was appealable to the Judicial Branch, on July 30, 2013, the Administrative Law Judge again remanded Brook’s case back to the agency, with instructions to determine:

1. The weekly hours of registered nursing that are needed by the Appellant, taking into consideration the practical scheduling concerns of qualified providers in the geographical vicinity of the Appellant.
2. The specific type of care and the number of weekly hours of each type of care required by the Appellant during the course of her treatment since her discharge from the hospital in May of 2007 consistent with the Medicaid Program, and the principal that the mother is not legally responsible for caring for the Appellant.
3. The number of hours of the authorized care described in #2 above, that have been provided by the mother (according to her qualifications), and the cost of that care, which amount shall be paid to the mother.
4. The amount to be paid for services provided by Brook’s mother, requiring that her mother should be allowed to provide whatever care she is qualified to provide within the authorized hours of service.
5. The cost of an average digital speech device of the type described by Dr. Burton shall be determined and paid to the Appellant to defray the cost of the more expensive device.

R. \_\_\_\_.

**e. Second Remand to DHHS in 2012**

In October of 2012, an additional two days of evidentiary hearings were held at DHHS on remand from the Administrative Law Court. This hearing was presided over by Honorable Elizabeth Hutto, Esq., who was and is believed to continue to be the Program Director for the

DHHS Office of Appeals and Hearings.<sup>1</sup> On December 10, 2012, approximately 150 days after the most recent remand by the Administrative Law Court back to DHHS, and more than four years after Brook filed her appeal, in December of 2012, Brook filed “Petitioner’s Motion for an Interlocutory Order,” requesting an interlocutory order requiring DHHS to restore the hours improperly reduced since 2007 (which had been reduced in violation of federal regulations at 42 C.F.R. 431.231 and DHHS’ own policies), reimbursement for the speech device in the amount DHHS had already agreed to pay (\$8,318.80) and partial payment to Brook’s mother for services she provided for which Judge McLeod determined she was entitled to payment. R. \_\_\_\_\_. DHHS filed a response objecting to the requested interlocutory order, in part, because “a Final Administrative Decision...is no doubt imminent.” R. \_\_\_\_\_. Yet, nearly a year passed before DHHS issued its order - while Brook’s condition continued to deteriorate due to the refusal to provide even the hours she was receiving in 2007 when she filed Waddle I. More than six years after Brook requested a fair hearing complaining that the services her physician had ordered had not been provided with reasonable promptness, DHHS issued a decision on November 19, 2013. R. \_\_\_\_\_.

**f. Appeal of Denial of Tracheotomy Supplies in 2013**

In January of 2013, DHHS’ agent, KePro sent Brook a notice informing her of the agency’s decision to deny payment for an oximeter cable that she needs to measure the oxygen saturation level in her blood. R. \_\_\_\_ and ALC Order dated October 11, 2013 at fn 2. Like the other notices sent by DHHS, this notice did not contain the statute or regulations upon which the DHHS decision was based. Id. 42 C.F.R. 431.210. It also did not inform Brook of the procedure for appealing this denial. Id. Finally, the reason given for denying the prescription of Brook’s physician eleven days after Apria submitted it to KePro was “Provider submitted no clinical information supporting request and prescription when requested to do so.” Id. There is no evidence in the record that KePro or DHHS made any attempt to contact Brook’s physician or to review the extensive medical records in the possession of DHHS to determine the medical

---

<sup>1</sup> In February of 2013, Ms. Hutto was appointed as the interim Deputy Director and Chief Financial Officer for DHHS, while continuing to hold the position as Program Director for the Office of Hearings and Appeals.

necessity for the device. On January 30, 2013, Brook requested that the record in her Waddle I appeal “be supplemented with this latest denial.” Id.

But, instead of treating this denial as further evidence of the ongoing and systemic violations that Brook complained of in her 2007 appeal, DHHS treated this information as a new and different appeal (referred to herein as “Waddle II”) and assigned it a new case number and hearing officer. R. \_\_\_\_\_. Instead of scheduling an evidentiary hearing and issuing a decision within 90 days, this new DHHS hearing officer issued a “Pre Hearing Conference Order” which required the parties to confer within one month and imposed a burden on DHHS counsel to file a “summary of issues discussed” and to inform the hearing officer “whether consensus had been reached and any remaining issues.” R. \_\_\_\_\_. The order required DHHS counsel to provide “with specificity, any additional information that will be submitted at the hearing...” and required Brook’s counsel to attend the conference and to file “a statement of intention to continue the appeal process and to attend a Fair Hearing.” But the order did not address the medical necessity of the device. Id. It did not mention the oximeter cable. Id. Brook’s counsel complied with that order.

On March 19, 2013, Brook’s counsel filed a three page document with the DHHS Office of Hearings and Appeals in response to that order, captioned “Appellant’s Response to Order.” In this Response, she indicated her intent to continue the appeal. R. \_\_\_\_\_. She incorporated and re-alleged all allegations made since 2007. In this Response, Brook requested reasonable accommodations during the hearing and she requested an independent medical assessment pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 431.240(b). R. \_\_\_\_\_.<sup>2</sup> Id. In the letter counsel for DHHS sent to the hearing officer in response to the Pre Hearing Conference Order, the agency admitted that the appeal arose from Apria’s denial of payment for an oximeter cable based on that DHHS provider (not Brook) failing to submit “supporting clinical information” to its agent, KePro. R. \_\_\_\_\_. Counsel for DHHS deferred to Brook “to allow her to submit to the hearing officer any additional issues

---

<sup>2</sup> DHHS paid the amount ordered for the speech device in January of 2013, but has appealed its own agency’s order requiring payment to Brook’s mother for services provided and it has refused to provide the number of hours ordered by the Director of the DHHS Office of Appeals and Hearings, who now also holds the position as Chief Financial Officer of DHHS.

she wishes to raise at the hearing.” Id.

On March 27, 2013, the hearing officer sent an email to counsel complaining that Brook’s Response “does not address the issue of my case (denial of prior authorization of an oximeter cable...)” (Emphasis added.) R. \_\_\_\_\_. The Pre Hearing Conference Order did not ask Brook to present proof of the medical necessity of the cable. The applicable federal regulations required that Brook be allowed to present testimony at an evidentiary hearing on that issue. 42 C.F.R. 431.242. Federal regulations at 42 C.F.R. 431.244(a) required the hearing officer to base her decision “exclusively on evidence introduced at the hearing.” In the email dated March 27, 2013, the hearing officer demanded that Brook provide her with written “documentation of medical necessity for the cable.” Brook asked in her formal Response that the hearing officer order a medical assessment, to be conducted at agency expense pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 240(b). Id. 42 C.F.R. 431.240(b) requires that this assessment be “obtained at agency expense and made part of the record.”<sup>3</sup> Id. On April 4, 2013, the hearing officer issued an order dismissing Brook’s request for a fair hearing without providing an evidentiary hearing, concluding that Brook had somehow “abandoned the appeal...” by not providing written proof of medical necessity for the cable prior to a hearing being scheduled. R. \_\_\_\_\_.

**g. Third Appeal to the Administrative Law Court in 2013**

On May 9, 2013, Brook filed an appeal with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court of the dismissal of Waddle II, which had been dismissed by the DHHS hearing officer on the grounds of “abandonment.” Brook objected to the failure to provide an evidentiary hearing and the failure of the hearing officer to include in the Record on Appeal records of the 2007 appeal, which Brook had incorporated by reference in her Response to the hearing officer’s Pre Hearing Order.<sup>4</sup> R. \_\_\_\_\_. In Issue 2 of Appellant’s Initial Brief filed with the Administrative Law

---

<sup>3</sup> 42 C.F.R. 431.250(f) provides for federal matching funding for assessments authorized pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 431.240(b). The federal match in South Carolina is approximately 70%

<sup>4</sup> It appears that the Administrative Law Court may have been under pressure to dispose of Medicaid cases more promptly than in the past. This Court may take judicial notice and compare that Court’s 2012-2013 Accountability Report to the prior year’s report, which shows that the average number of days to resolve a Medicaid appeal had increased from 284 days in FY 2011-2012 to 422 days by the following year. *See*

Court, Brook complained that:

*DHHS and this Court, as agencies of the executive branch of state government, have violated the separation of powers provision of the South Carolina Constitution, Brook's Constitutional right to due process, her statutory right to notices of the denial, reduction or termination of Medicaid services meeting the requirements of 42 C.F.R. 431.210, her right to an evidentiary hearing meeting the requirements of 42 C.F.R. 431.242 and 244 and her right to a final administrative decision within 90 days of her April 28, 2007 appeal by failing to rule upon all of the issues raised in her 2007 appeal and delaying her opportunity for judicial review for more than six years.*

On page 19 of Appellant's Initial Brief, Brook alleged:

*The State Medicaid Agency has failed to provide an evidentiary hearing when her requests for services have been denied, in violation of 42 C.F.R. 431.220. DHHS and this Court have limited and interfered with her freedom to make a request for a hearing in violation of 42 C.F.R. 431.221. In clear violation of 42 C.F.R. 431.223, DHHS has dismissed Brook's requests for an evidentiary hearing. It has denied her procedural rights to an evidentiary hearing as established in 42 C.F.R. 431.242. (Emphasis added.)*

Instead of simply providing this inexpensive device that is needed to measure Brook's oxygen saturation level, DHHS filed a Motion to Dismiss Brook's appeal with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court on September 11, 2013. R. \_\_\_\_\_. In this motion, DHHS asked the Administrative Law Court to dismiss Waddle II because her claim "is precisely or substantially the same in both proceedings."<sup>5</sup> R. \_\_\_\_\_. Motion to Dismiss at 3. At that point,

---

<http://www.scalc.net/pub/FY2012-2013%20ALC%20Accountability%20Report.pdf>  
[http://dc.statelibrary.sc.gov/bitstream/handle/10827/12038/ALC\\_Annual\\_Accountability\\_Report\\_2012-2013.pdf?sequence=1](http://dc.statelibrary.sc.gov/bitstream/handle/10827/12038/ALC_Annual_Accountability_Report_2012-2013.pdf?sequence=1) at 15. The number of Medicaid appeals had nearly doubled, increasing from 15 to 27 in just one year. Whereas in FY 2011-2012 forty percent of cases were resolved within the Court's own "objective" of 180 days between filing and disposition, a year later, only 23% of Medicaid appeals were being decided by the Administrative Law Court within 180 days. (These numbers do not include the time between the Medicaid participant filing her appeal with DHHS and the case being filed in the Administrative Law Court, nor are they believed to include prior appeals to the Administrative Law Court which were remanded back to DHHS). Dismissing Medicaid appeals, without providing a hearing, might have helped improve these statistics.

<sup>5</sup> The November 19, 2014 order of the hearing officer in Waddle I did not mention the denial of the oximeter cable.

DHHS agreed with Brook that the violations complained of in Waddle II were “encompassed in the complaint” filed in 2007. *Id.* at 4. (“Therefore, Appellant’s appeal should be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(8) because the claims are precisely or substantially the same in both proceedings.” *Id.*)

**h. DHHS Offer to Settle in 2013**

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