THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APR 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Administrative Law Court

Ralph King Anderson III, Administrative Law Judge
Trial Court Case No.: 2013-ALJ-080267-AP

Appellate Case No.: 2013-002415

Brook Waddle,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services.....Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT
OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES**

SHEALY BOLAND REIBOLD
1801 Main Street, Suite 1100
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 898-2791 - Office
Counsel for the Respondent

RILEY, POPE & LANEY, LLC

DAMON C. WLODARCZYK
P.O. Box 11412
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS MOOT

Generally an appellate court “will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” Sloan v. Dep’t of Transp., 379 S.C. 160, 167, 666 S.E.2d 236, 240 (2008) (internal citations omitted).

In the present case, the healthcare provider, Apria, incorrectly coded the request for the oximeter cable and, therefore, the request was denied. However, the coding issue was discovered when the denial was appealed and the cable was approved manually and Waddle received the cable and continues to receive the cable. Moreover, if the correct code is used by the provider in the future, barring any other error, it will be approved without prior authorization. [R. pp. 65-66].

Based upon the fact that the coding error was identified and the DME provided to Waddle, the issue on appeal is moot. Even if Waddle prevails in her appeal to this Court, the relief would be to remand the matter to DHHS’s Division of Appeals and Hearings for a fair hearing to determine whether or not the denial of the oximeter cable was proper, and whether or not the DME should be provided to Waddle. As DHHS has resolved the issue and provided the oximeter cable to Waddle, and DHHS has indicated that absent any future coding error the oximeter cable will continue to be provided without prior authorization, there is no need for a fair hearing or relief that the fair hearing officer could provide. As such, the present appeal should be dismissed as moot as there remains no actual controversy.

II. THERE WAS NO ERR IN DISMISSING WADDLE’S APPEAL FOR FAILING TO COMPLY WITH THE HEARING OFFICER’S ORDER (WADDLE’S ISSUES 1 & 2)

- A. Waddle failed to appeal the hearing officer’s procedural dismissal and, therefore, the dismissal is the law of the case and the present appeal should be dismissed.

Waddle set forth five (5) issues on appeal to the ALC in her Initial Brief. [R. p. 75]. In reviewing the arguments presented to the ALC, none assign any err as to the hearing officer's Order dismissing the appeal for failing to provide the information requested in the Prehearing Conference Order. [R. pp. 89-102]. Waddle first addressed the procedural dismissal in her Amended Reply Brief. [R. pp. 135-137].

It is well-settled that an un-appealed ruling is the law of the case. Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). Moreover, "an argument made in a reply brief cannot present an issue to the appellate court if it was not addressed in the initial brief. Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 692 (Ct. App. 2001) citing Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc., 313 S.C. 272, 277, 437 S.E.2d 168, 171 (Ct.App.1993).

Since Waddle first argued in her Reply Brief to the ALC that the hearing officer erred in procedurally dismissing her appeal without a fair hearing allegedly in violation of 42 C.F.R. 431.223, the argument was not properly preserved for appellate review and the issue presently before the Court should be dismissed.

- B. There is substantial evidence in the Record on Appeal, which supports the hearing officer's order to dismiss Waddle's appeal.

There is substantial evidence in the record to support the hearing officer's Order dismissing Waddle's appeal for her failure to provide information requested in the Prehearing Conference Order. At issue in this case are the following regulations:

42 C.F.R. §431.205 provides in part that the Medicaid agency (DHHS) is responsible for maintaining a hearing system that provides a hearing before the Medicaid agency (DHHS) and which meets the due process standards set forth in Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970).

42 C.F.R. § 431.220(a)(1) provides that a State agency must grant an opportunity for a hearing to a Medicaid participant if an applicant who requests it because his claim for services is denied or is not acted upon with reasonable promptness.

Finally, 42 C.F.R. §431.223 provides the agency may deny or dismiss a request for a hearing if the applicant withdraws the request in writing; or the applicant fails to appear at a scheduled hearing without good cause.

South Carolina's regulations governing fair hearings are set forth in S.C. Regs. 126-150, *et seq.* Specifically, Reg. 126-154 grants hearing officers the following authority:

A Hearing Officer has the authority, among other things to: direct all procedures; issue interlocutory orders; schedule hearings and conferences; preside at formal proceedings; rule on procedural and evidentiary issues; require the submission of briefs and/or proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law; call witnesses and cross-examine any witnesses; recess, continue, and conclude any proceedings; *dismiss any appeal for failure to comply* with requirements under this Subarticle

(emphasis added).

The Goldberg Court stated that “[t]he fundamental requisite of due process of law is the *opportunity* to be heard.” Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. at 267 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). To comply with this fundamental due process requirement, the Court stated that the aggrieved “should have timely and adequate notice detailing the reasons for a proposed termination, and an effective *opportunity* to defend by confronting any adverse witnesses and by presenting his own arguments and evidence orally.” Id. (emphasis added).

Since Goldberg, however, the Court has refined its position regarding the fair hearing process and due process requirements. For example, the United States Court of

Appeals for the Sixth Circuit noted that the U.S. Supreme Court has since explained that the “due process requirement that the government provide a hearing before the termination of benefits turns on the sensible fact/law dichotomy that CMS, the State and Benton have drawn.” Rosen v. Goetz, 410 F.3d 919, 928 (6th Cir. 2005) citing Codd v. Velger, 429 U.S. 624, 627 (1977). In order for “the hearing mandated by the Due Process Clause [] to serve any useful purpose, there must be some factual dispute . . .” Id.

In applying the rationale set forth above, the Rosen court concluded that Tennessee’s Medicaid fair hearing procedures, which after an initial review and adverse determination would require the effected Medicaid recipients to provide information and at all points permitted a request for a hearing if a beneficiary presented a “valid factual dispute” about their continued eligibility for coverage, complied with due process requirements. Rosen, 410 F.3d at 929.

Similarly, in the present case, Waddle was given two (2) opportunities to state her intention with regard to pursuing the appeal, seeking a fair hearing, and presenting evidence of medical necessity prior to the fair hearing pursuant to a Prehearing Conference Order. Appellant failed to provide the requested information by the first due date and simply did not respond by the second due date. Although Goldberg provides the “opportunity” for a participant to be heard, it is clear under the present facts that Waddle abandoned the opportunity that was afforded to her by failing to provide the information requested.

Moreover, the South Carolina Supreme Court has determined that “[o]ne cannot complain of a due process violation if he has recourse to a constitutionally sufficient administrative procedure but merely declines or fails to take advantage of it. Zaman v.

S.C. State Bd. of Med. Examiners, 305 S.C. 281, 285, 408 S.E.2d 213, 215 (1991)

(identifying the due process requirements set forth in Goldberg in reaching its decision).

As previously stated, Waddle simply failed to take advantage or declined to take advantage of the fair hearing process by refusing to provide information requested from the hearing office in a Prehearing Conference Order.

Finally, in the cases of Mims v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Humans Svcs., Docket No. 07-ALJ-08-0082-AP (S.C. ALC 2007) and Brown v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Human Svcs., Docket No. 12-ALJ-08-0067-AP (S.C. ALC 2012), the ALC discussed the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 431.223. In Mims, the hearing officer dismissed the appeal due to the participant's failure to timely provide further information requested in a pre-hearing Order. In Brown, the hearing officer dismissed the appeal due to the participant's failure to provide a more definite statement of the issues on appeal. Both were procedural dismissals prior to a fair hearing.

In Mims, the appellant/participant raised the same arguments present in this case; specifically, that a hearing officer may only dismiss a fair hearing request if the participant withdraws the request in writing, or fails to attend a hearing without good cause. While the ALC acknowledged those situations in which a hearing officer *may* dismiss appeals, citing Sunset Cay, LLC v. City of Folly Beach, 357 S.C. 414, 593 S.E.2d 462 (2004), the court determined that "may" was permissive and not mandatory.

The ALC opined,

the federal regulation [42 C.F.R. § 431.223] is not so comprehensive that it preempts the state from passing regulations which are not contradictory. In this instance the state has promulgated regulations that provide additional grounds for dismissal and can be applied harmoniously with the federal regulations.

[DHHS] can promulgate regulations governing the administration of hearings so long as they do not conflict with the federal regulations. [internal citation omitted] The language of 42 C.F.R. § 431.223 and 27 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 126-154 do not contradict each other. Accordingly, the Hearing Officer had the authority to dismiss Mims's appeal for failure to comply with his November 30 Order.

Mims, Docket No. 07-ALJ-08-0082-AP.

For the reasons set forth in Mims, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the hearing officers Order of Dismissal and, therefore, the Order should be affirmed.

For the reasons set forth herein, DHHS respectfully requests that the appeal either be dismissed as not preserved or, in the alternative, that the hearing officer's Order of Dismissal be affirmed.

III. WADDLE'S REMAINING ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW (WADDLE'S ISSUES 3, 4 AND 5)

In its October 11, 2013 Order, the ALC determined that all of the issues presented on appeal, except the hearing officer's Order of Dismissal, involved the same or substantially the same claims as those arising in a pending proceeding between the same parties and, therefore, even if properly raised in this case would be subject to dismissal under at Rule 12(b)(8), SCRPC theory. Regardless, the ALC went on to state that Waddle failed to present a proper record of these issues on appeal but instead attempted to improperly create a record through incorporating exhibits from the companion proceeding in her Initial Brief. [R. pp. 7-8]. Citing to Administrative Law Court Rule 36, the ALC concluded that there were no facts in the Record to consider regarding any issue other than the Order of Dismissal. Id.

“Issues not raised to and ruled on by the agency are not preserved for judicial consideration.” Brown v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002); Carson v. South Carolina Dep’t of Natural Res., 371 S.C. 114, 120, 638 S.E.2d 45, 48 (2002) (stating that a court sitting in appellate capacity may not consider issues not raised or ruled on by administrative agency); see also Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (2000); Kiawah Resort Assoc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm’n, 318 S.C. 502, 458 S.E.2d 542 (1995). If an issue is raised to, but not ruled upon by the agency, nothing in the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) prevents a party from seeking reconsideration or requesting a hearing. Kiawah Resort Associates, 318 S.C. at 506, 458 S.E.2d at 544. In fact, the APA specifically acknowledges a party’s right to seek reconsideration of a final agency decision. Id. citing S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (“proceedings for review are instituted by serving and filing notice of appeal . . . within thirty days after the final decision of the agency *or, if a rehearing is requested*, within thirty days after the decision is rendered”) (emphasis added).

In the present appeal, the remaining issues raised on appeal by Waddle were not raised to or ruled upon by the hearing officer. Moreover, Waddle did not file a Motion for Reconsideration requesting a ruling on the arguments, assuming *arguendo* they were raised. Cf. Elam v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (stating a party *must* file a Rule 59(e), SCRCR, Motion to Alter or Amend when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review).

Moreover, as stated by the ALC, there are no facts in the Record on Appeal upon which this Court can base its decision. S.C. Code § 1-23-380 (stating appellate review must be confined to the record).

As these arguments were neither discussed, addressed nor ruled upon in the Order of Dismissal, they are not preserved for appellate review and, therefore, the appeal should be dismissed or, in the alternative, the Order of Dismissal affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth, Respondent respectfully requests the Court dismiss the appeal as the issues are not preserved or, in the alternative, to affirm the agency's Order of Dismissal.

RILEY POPE & LANEY, LLC



Damon C. Wlodarczyk, SC Bar 70460
Post Office Box 11412
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Telephone: (803) 799-9993
Facsimile: (803) 239-1414

Columbia, South Carolina

April 15, 2015

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Administrative Law Court

Ralph King Anderson III, Administrative Law Judge
Trial Court Case No.: 2013-ALJ-080267-AP

Appellate Case No.: 2013-002415

Brook Waddle,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services.....Respondent,